



The economic cost of smoking to Wales:

a review of existing evidence

Dr. Aimee Grant

Contents

Acknowledgements	3	
Executive Summary	4	
Introduction	6	
Previous Research	6	
Methods	7	
Results	7	
1. Cost of smoking to the Welsh NHS	7	
2. Cost of smoking to productivity	8	
a. Smoking-related deaths	8	
b. Absenteeism	10	
c. Smoking breaks	10	
3. Second hand smoking – early deaths	11	
4. Smoking related litter	12	
5. Cost of fire	12	
a. To business	12	
b. Dwelling fires	13	
Summary	14	
The cost of smoking by Local Authority in Wales	15	
The cost of smoking by Local Health Board in Wales	15	
Tax generated by smoking	16	
Conclusion	17	
References		

Acknowledgements

ASH Wales and the British Heart Foundation are grateful to Professor Ceri Phillips of the Swansea Centre for Health Economics, Swansea University, for his contribution in calculating the amount of duty raised by tobacco sales and for his earlier work on the cost of smoking to the NHS in Wales.

ASH Wales and the British Heart Foundation also wish to acknowledge the contribution of Dr Rosanne Palmer, current Research and Policy Officer at ASH Wales, in updating the report's figures following Dr Aimee Grant's move to Public Health Wales. This report was originally produced by Dr Aimee Grant in April 2012 and updated during summer 2013.

Executive Summary

Introduction

Following existing research on the economic costs of smoking for England and Scotland, ASH Wales undertook an analysis of existing data sources to compile an estimate of the economic costs of smoking to Wales. Within Wales 23% of adults smoke and this has a significant impact upon health, productivity and the environment, resulting in high costs. The Welsh Government have stated their intention to reduce adult smoking prevalence rates to 16% by 2020, and if achieved, this will significantly reduce the cost of smoking for Wales.

Methods

The research adopted the approach of Nash and Featherstone (2010), and examined data relating to: costs to the NHS; smoking related deaths; absenteeism from work; productivity losses due to smoking breaks; deaths from second hand smoke; smoking-related litter and fires caused by smokers' materials. Where possible, data from Wales were used. However, in some areas, English or UK data was used to create an estimate where no data was available.

Results

The data show that the economic cost of smoking to Wales based upon the factors listed in the below table is an estimated $\underline{\textbf{£790.66 million per year}}$. However, it could be as high as $\underline{\textbf{£1.04 billion}}$ $\underline{\textbf{per year.}}$

	Preferred estimate uprated to 2012 prices	Lower estimate	Higher estimate
Health care costs	£302 million	£190 million	£436.6 million
Premature deaths	£288 million	£80 million	£310.7 million
Excess sickness absence	£49.5 million	£31.2 million	£112.5 million
Smoking breaks	£41 million	£41 million	£63 million
Second hand smoke – early deaths	£45.4 million	£45.4 million	£45.4 million
Smoking-related litter	£25.8 million	£18.7 million	£25.8 million
Fires in businesses	£960,000	960,000 million	£7.6 million
Fires in the home	£38 million	£38 million	£38 million
TOTAL	£790.66 million per year	£455.26 million	£1,039.7 million

On pages 13 and 14, tables show these costs by Local Health Board and Local Authority in Wales. The Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board experiences the highest estimated costs at £172.2 million per year, with Powys Teaching Health Board having the lowest estimated cost of £30.9 million per year. A comparison of local authorities shows that the estimated costs are highest in Cardiff (£91.5 million) and lowest in Merthyr Tydfil (£17.5 million per year). These costs reflect the differential population size, however, as Cardiff's adult smoking rate is 23% and Merthyr Tydfil's 27%, in the context of a national average of 23%.

Conclusion

The economic costs of smoking to Wales are extremely high. In order to reduce these costs, it is essential to reduce the number of young people who become smokers, to reduce smoking prevalence and to ensure cessation services are accessible, equitable and offer a broad range of services. If the Welsh Government's aim of reducing adult smoking prevalence to 16% were to be realised, these estimated costs suggest potentially significant savings for Wales.

Introduction

Cigarettes are the only product on sale in the UK that when used as directed will prematurely kill half of life-long users¹, and experts agree that smoking is the single biggest cause of cancer in the world², ³, ⁴. Studies from Europe, Japan and North America have shown that 9 in 10 lung cancers are caused by smoking⁵. In Wales, the most recent data available show that lung cancers are the third most common cancer for both men and women⁶. Additionally, between 25% and 40% of smokers will die in middle age⁷. Each year, 5,450 deaths from smoking occur in Wales⁸, accounting for almost one fifth of annual deaths in Wales.

Within Wales, 23% of adults smoke⁹, in contrast to 20% of adults in England¹⁰. The rate of adult smoking varies significantly by area with 18% of adults smoking in Monmouthshire, compared to 28% of adults in Blaenau Gwent¹¹. This mirrors data on Disability-Free Life Expectancy, which is 54.3 years for males in Blaenau Gwent, but rises to 63.2 for males in Monmouthshire¹². The adult smoking rate in Wales has reduced from 24% in 2008 and 2009, although the Welsh Government has stated its intention to reduce smoking prevalence to 16% by 2020¹³.

Cigarettes have become increasingly affordable in recent decades as the price of tobacco has not kept pace with rising incomes¹⁴. Moreover, as this report will show, the societal economic costs to the country exceeded the estimated £644.73 million revenue received in taxation in 2012.

Previous research

Beginning in Canada in 1991, studies have attempted to provide an estimate of the cost of smoking for different countries based upon a range of factors. This paper will assume that previously published methods of estimating costs have been correctly applied resulting in robust data. The first piece of research¹⁵ examined key variables that have been used in subsequent estimates: health care costs, workers' absence, premature death and fire. In 1993, a paper from a World Bank economist estimated that the world tobacco market produced a \$200 billion global loss annually, based on premature death, sick time and the costs of treating smoking related illness¹⁶.

The first estimate of the economic cost of smoking for Wales was conducted as part of the Heartbeat Wales programme by Ceri Phillips and Malcolm Prowle¹⁷. Examining the effect of smoking cessation on mortality and morbidity, the study found that the cost of a smoking cessation programme, Heartbeat Wales, was less than the economic costs of smokers not giving up in terms of treating smoking and lost productive years. This included over a million working days lost as a result of sickness absence from smoking related illnesses, and over 6,000 years of working life lost as a result of lung cancer, coronary heart disease and chronic bronchitis.

Nash and Featherstone (2010)¹⁸, estimated that the costs of smoking to England were £13.74 billion annually. The report used the following indicators: the cost to the NHS of treating smokers (not including passive smokers); loss of productivity at work as a result of absenteeism, smoking breaks

and premature death of smokers and passive smokers; the cost of cleaning up cigarette-related litter; and the cost of smoking-related house fires.

A similar analysis was undertaken by ASH Scotland in 2010¹⁹. The report found that smoking cost Scotland £1.1 billion per year. Both reports were cautious, and used low or midpoint estimates throughout. What is clear from the research is that smoking is costing both England and Scotland more than the Treasury recoups through tobacco taxation.

A third report, carried out by Alistair McGuire at the London School of Economics²⁰ provided detailed estimates of the costs of absenteeism and smoking breaks to businesses for the UK. These estimates were calculated for each region of the UK, and the estimates for Wales have been used in this report. In addition to this, David Cohen undertook a modelling exercise in 2005²¹ showing the financial impact of a smoking ban, in which costs to the NHS and businesses were estimated.

Methods

Data relating to Wales was favoured wherever it was present in existing research or obtainable from the Welsh Government and other related agencies. Where this was not possible, information from the above reports was used to create estimates based on scaling figures found in estimates produced for the UK or England relative to the population of Wales.

Where costs were available for the UK as a whole, the population of Wales²² was calculated to be 4.83% of the UK population²³. Smoking prevalence throughout the UK varies (England 20%; Wales 23%; Scotland 24%; Northern Ireland 24%). However, the figure of 4.83% of the population has been used to calculate estimates, and thus they are likely to be a slight underestimate as a result of England's lower adult smoking prevalence.

Results

1. Cost of smoking to the Welsh NHS

Mirroring the methodology used by Callum (2006) estimating the cost of smoking to the NHS in England²⁴, research by Phillips and Bloodworth (2009)²⁵ estimated the cost of smoking-related diseases to the Welsh NHS. The simulation was based upon estimates of unit costs and the relative risk of smokers and ex-smokers of needing treatment including hospital admissions, outpatient visits, GP and practice nurse consultations and prescriptions. The difference between those who had never smoked and those who had smoked or were smokers was attributed entirely to smoking. Using this methodology, the cost of smoking to the Welsh NHS was £386 million per year, uprated to 2012 prices this is equal to £436.6 million per year. This amounted to 7% of NHS expenditure and 22% of the costs of adult hospital admissions.

Using a similar methodology but different data sources, research by Allender et al. (2009)²⁶ estimated the direct cost to the NHS in Wales of smoking attributable conditions in 2005-06 to be £234.2 million per year. The estimate was based upon a range of smoking-related conditions identified and costs for treatment including: inpatient and outpatient costs, primary care expenditure, pharmaceutical expenditure and community care services expenditure. However, Allender notes that the necessity of using cost data relating to disease categories from 1992 was a limitation that did not allow the analysis to reflect new treatment methods, and that there was evidence that this had affected treatment costs. As such, Allender's estimate was viewed as an overestimate by Callum²⁷. Allowing for inflation, the cost rises to £296 million per year based on 2012 prices provided by the Bank of England.

Within England, the method used by Callum, and subsequently used by Phillips and Bloodworth in Wales, resulted in an estimate of £2.7 billion per year, which was a lower estimate of health care costs than Allender's at £4.4 billion. Callum's estimate was adopted by Nash and Featherstone as a result of the limitations of Allender's data. However, it is unexpected that the methodology of Callum resulted in higher estimated treatment costs in Wales than the overestimate of Allender. In part, this can be explained by the limitations of the data available in Wales as compared to England: Callum's analysis was able to identify diseases at a more detailed level than the Welsh data allowed. A projection from Callum's results based on population size alone, which assumes that rates of disease and costs are equal throughout England and Wales, and does not allow for a slightly higher smoking rate in Wales, estimates the cost to Wales would be £155 million per year, uprated to 2012 prices this becomes £190 million per year. It should be acknowledged that Wales has a higher prevalence of smoking than England, a higher prevalence of conditions (circulatory, respiratory and cancer) that lead to hospital admissions and higher unit costs²⁸. With these caveats in mind, to be conservative, the report will adopt the midpoint between Phillips and Bloodworths' £386 million and the projection based on Callum's English data of £155 million. The estimated cost of smoking to Wales is £270.5 million based on 2007 prices. Uprated to 2012 prices, this resulted in an estimated midpoint cost of £302 million per year.

The estimated cost of smoking to the Welsh NHS is £302 million per year.

2. Cost of smoking to productivity

a. Smoking related deaths

The Public Health Wales Observatory estimates that each year there are 5,450 deaths from smoking-related illnesses²⁹. In 2010, there were 31,197 deaths in Wales³⁰, showing that almost one fifth of the deaths in Wales are a result of smoking tobacco. Using the most recent estimate from the Public Health Wales Observatory, this amounts to 23% of male deaths and 13.1% of female deaths³¹.

Nash and Featherstone's (2010) analysis of English data on forgone productivity and earnings lost from premature death took the estimate of smoking related deaths by age from the NHS Information Centre and performed an analysis of the estimated life time earnings using data from

the Office for National Statistics. In doing so, they estimated the economic cost of lost productivity from premature smoking-related deaths based upon lost years of work and the earning potential of such work. The analysis assumed that all workers who died prematurely would have ordinarily continued to work until they retired. A partial level of productivity was assumed until the age of 74, based upon employment data from the Office for National Statistics. As research shows that those who smoke in Wales are more likely to have other health conditions and to engage in other health risk behaviours³², this may result in an overestimate.

For the 28,385 premature deaths in England among those aged 35-74, Nash and Featherstone calculated the cost to be £4.07 billion, or £143,386 per death. Whilst this may appear to be a high estimate, the economic impact of a death under the age of 74 will usually be felt for many years. Moreover, in the context of the median gross UK salary for full time workers in 2011 amounting to over £26,000³³, this cost would be accounted for in six years of working full time at the average salary. Using a projection based upon the English data, in the absence of age specific premature death data, ASH Scotland estimated that smoking related premature deaths in Scotland cost £343 million per year to the economy, based upon productivity losses among those aged under 74 years.

Age-specific premature death data and data relating to the forgone productivity and lost earnings as a result of premature death were not available for Wales. Accordingly, the best available estimate was a projection based upon the English data. Nash and Featherstone stated that in 2008 there were 83,900 deaths attributed to smoking in England, of which 28,385 were among those aged under 74. This amounted to 34% of deaths attributed to smoking. Accordingly, assuming that 34% of smoking related deaths in Wales occurred between the ages of 35 and 74, there would be 1,921 deaths per year in this group. Based upon the cost per death established in Nash and Featherstone (2010), the projected estimated cost for Wales is £275 million per year, uprated for inflation, this becomes £310.7 million per year.

An alternative methodology was used by ASH Scotland in their analysis of the cost of smoking-related deaths was a projection using Nash and Featherstone's (2010) data. The estimate was a projection based upon the size of the Scottish population as a whole, compared to the English population, as opposed to data relating to smoking-related deaths. Using this approach, the estimated cost falls to £234 million per year, or £264.2 million per year allowing for inflation to 2012 prices.

As an alternative measure of how premature death affects the economy, research in Scotland focused upon lost expenditure³⁴. The estimated cost of each premature death was calculated by the West Midlands Health Observatory to be £11,000³⁵. If the cost of premature death was seen as comparable in Wales to England, using this estimate the cost of premature deaths in Wales shrinks to £61.6 million per year. Uprated from 2004 prices, this becomes £80 million per year. This figure is lower than Nash and Featherstone's (2010) estimate as a result of measuring only consumer spending, as opposed to all earnings which would be spent in a wide range of ways, all of which would impact on the economy.

Accordingly, the more comprehensive methodology of Nash and Featherstone will also be adopted here, as in the ASH Scotland estimate of the cost of smoking to Scotland. In order to be conservative, the midpoint between the projection based upon Welsh death data and the projection

based entirely upon Nash and Featherstone's work will be taken. Uprated to 2012 prices, the estimated cost is £288 million per year.

The estimated cost of premature death on productivity in Wales is £288 million per year.

b. Absenteeism

Adopting the methodology used by Parrott et al. (2000)³⁶, where an excess absence based upon US data of 0.9 days (7.2 hours) per year for each full time worker was used alongside the UK average hourly rate, Cohen and Lisles (2005) estimated the cost of absenteeism to Wales. Their research used average wages (including National Insurance contributions) based on 2003 prices, and found that the estimated cost of absenteeism caused by smoking was £23.3 million. Uprated to 2012 prices, this becomes £31.2 million per year.

However, McGuire (2008:8) used data from a wide range of international studies and estimated an average of 1.77 excess sickness days were taken for each full time equivalent per year. The cost of such absence was estimated in light of the hours that smokers had reported working in the General Household Survey and the Annual Survey of Hours and Earnings. Across Wales, McGuire estimates smoking-related excess absenteeism costs £44 million per year. Uprated to 2012 prices, this increases to £49.5 million.

Within Nash and Featherstone's (2010) research, however, an estimate from NICE³⁷ of an additional 33 hours of sickness absence a year is noted. Having estimated McGuire's 1.77 days to equal 13.28 hours (7.5 hours per full time equivalent per day), this is a significant increase, which Nash and Featherstone attribute to using 'more UK specific data' (p.14). Accordingly, the figure rises to £109 million per year based upon each smoking full time equivalent being absent for an additional 33 hours.

The middle of the three estimates will be adopted here in order to be conservative. It should be noted, however, that this is likely to be an underestimate, as additional sickness absences for former smokers have been calculated to be increased compared to non-smokers³⁸, and these were not accounted for in this analysis.

The estimated cost of smoking related excess absence is £49.5 million per year.

c. Smoking breaks

Cohen and Lisles' (2005) analysis before the smoking ban was attempting to estimate what difference in productivity would occur if a smoking ban in the workplace occurred. They estimated that a ban on smoking in the workplace would cost employers an additional £394,210 per year as a result of <u>additional</u> smoking breaks. Cohen and Lisles (2005) used assumptions from the Parrott et al. (2000) research which estimated that smokers would smoke an average of 1.3 cigarettes smoked outside of existing breaks, and estimated this would take six minutes per cigarette. However, that

research was modelling the impact of a change in the regulations and therefore only considered the cost of additional breaks. As such the research did not attempt to measure the full cost of all smoking breaks to Wales.

McGuire et al.'s (2008) research, however, aimed to measure the full cost of all smoking breaks. Using estimates of heavy and light smokers, and full and part time workers, Professor McGuire estimated the cost of smoking breaks to businesses in Wales to cost £36 million per year. Uprated to 2012 prices, this rises to £41 million per year.

The McGuire estimate was based upon each smoking break lasting 6 minutes. In Nash and Featherstone's analysis, however, the figure of 10 minutes per day was used. Applying Nash and Featherstone's 10 minutes per day to Wales' specific data from McGuire et al., the costs rise to £63 million per year.

Finally, research on 200 Scottish employers by Parrott et al. (2000) estimated that the cost of smoking breaks in Scotland resulted in productivity losses of £450 million per year. In light of the changes in smokefree legislation, some of the assumptions in the research no longer hold true. Accordingly, Parrott's estimate will not be used to calculate a projection for Wales.

In order to make use of the most reliable Welsh specific data available, McGuire et al.'s estimate will be adopted.

The estimated cost of smoking breaks to Wales is £41 million per year.

3. Second Hand Smoking - early deaths

The Royal College of Physicians (2005)³⁹ stated that 12,253 premature deaths occurred in the UK among adults aged 20+ years, as a result of second hand smoking in the home. Nash and Featherstone (2010) adopted this estimate, with an adjustment to account for a reduced smoking rate. The non-reduced rate for Wales, at 4.83% of the UK population, is 592 deaths a year. Reducing this to reflect a smoking prevalence rate of 23% shows that an estimated **454 deaths a year** occur in Wales among those aged 20 years and above because of passive smoking in the home.

In order to estimate the cost to the economy of these deaths, Nash and Featherstone use the same methodology as to estimate the costs of smoking related early deaths. Nash and Featherstone conclude that this costs £713 million per year to England. As such, this leads to a projected figure of £40 million per year for Wales. Uprated to 2012 prices, this becomes £45.4 million per year.

Research also shows that second hand smoke has a significant effect on perinatal death with one third of still-born babies and neonatal deaths (death within the first four weeks of life) caused by maternal smoking⁴⁰. This accounts for one death as a result of maternal smoking for every 1,000 live births in Wales⁴¹. There were 36,000 births in Wales in 2010⁴², as such there were an estimated **36** neonatal deaths in 2010 that were related to second hand smoking during pregnancy. A projection from UK figures by the Royal College of Physicians, suggests that smoking amounts to **15** deaths in the first week of babies' lives in Wales⁴³. It was not possible, however, to find an estimate of deaths

related to second hand smoke for those aged 4 weeks – 20 years, nor was it possible to attribute a cost to the 51 deaths among infants in the first four weeks of life.

The estimated cost of early deaths as a result of second hand smoking of adults aged over 20 years costs Wales £45.4 million per year.

4. Smoking-related litter

Nash and Featherstone (2010) use an estimate of the cost of cleaning up smoking-related litter in the UK from Keep Britain Tidy. The report stated it cost £342 million annually, based on 78% of locations containing smoking-related litter⁴⁴. As 4.83% of the UK population, a projected cost for Wales is £16.5 million. Uprated to 2012 prices, this becomes £18.7 million per year.

The Local Environment Audit & Management Survey (LEAMS, 2010) ⁴⁵ reported the prevalence of smoking-related litter per local authority based on a random sample of 8% of all streets in Wales. Smoking-related litter was found on 90% of Wales' streets and was the biggest source of street litter throughout Wales. Analysis did not occur to determine the proportion of smoking-related litter. The level of cleanliness did not vary significantly between local authorities. APSE (2011) stated that the cost of street cleaning per UK household was £36.19⁴⁶. In 2010, Wales was estimated to have 1.3 million households⁴⁷. Thus total street cleaning costs for Wales are estimated to cost £48 million per year. ASH Scotland (2010) estimated the cost of cleaning smoking-related litter based upon Nash and Featherstone's data and costs for cleaning all litter in England. Assuming that costs are comparable in Wales to England, the cost of cleaning smoking-related litter was 52.31% of total costs, and thus street cleaning to remove smoking-related litter is estimated to cost Wales £25.8 million per year. This is likely to be an underestimate as Nash and Featherstone (2010) report that smoking related litter was present in 78% of locations in England as opposed to 90% in Wales.

The estimated cost of street cleaning for smoking-related litter costs Wales £25.8 million per year.

5. The cost of Fire

a. To business

Research by Cohen and Lisles (2005) used the Parrott (2000) methodology to estimate the risk of fire damage to Welsh businesses. Based on data from 2003 and 1986, the cost of fires to businesses in Wales that was attributable to smoking was estimated to be £6 million, which increases to £7.95 million per year when uprated to 2012 prices. However, as a result of the subsequent smoking ban in the workplace it is likely that this will have declined significantly.

McGuire et al.'s (2008) research used 2004 calculations from the Office of the Deputy Prime Minister regarding the average cost of a business fire (£30,798 per business) and Local Authority statistics from 2006 about the prevalence of fires caused by smokers' materials (approximately 7%). Allowing

for a reduction in business related fires since the 2007 smoking ban until 2009 and uprating the costs to 2008 prices, McGuire et al. estimate the cost of smoking related fire damage in commercial premises to be £118.4 million per year for England. Assuming fire risk and costs are equal across the UK, and that the number of fires has not continued to fall since 2009, the proportionate cost to Wales of commercial fires caused by smoking materials was £6.8 million; uprated to 2012 prices, this becomes £7.6 million per year.

Data from the Incident Recording System show that there was a reduction in non-dwelling fires between 2009/10 and 2010/11. As such, the previous two calculations are likely to be overestimates. In 2010/11, there were 24 accidental fires in Welsh businesses where the source of ignition was smokers' materials⁴⁸. If each fire costs £30,798, as used by McGuire et al., the cost of fires caused by smokers' materials to businesses in Wales is £740,000 per year based on 2004 prices. If these costs are uprated to 2012 prices, the cost becomes **£960,000** per year.

The estimated cost of commercial fires started accidentally by smokers' materials in Wales is £960,000 per year.

b. Dwelling fires

In 2010/11, there were 190 dwelling fires in Wales where the source of ignition was smokers' materials⁴⁹. However, it is difficult to provide an estimate of the cost of these fires. We do know that within Wales 8 of the 20 dwelling fire fatalities in 2010/11 were as a result of fires that were ignited by smokers' materials⁵⁰, showing that smoking-related fires result in a disproportionately high number of fatalities, as was found in England by Nash and Featherstone (2010).

Nash and Featherstone (2010) calculate the cost of dwelling fires in England as a result of smokers' materials to cost £507 million annually. This accounts for injuries and fatalities, property damage, fire service costs and costs in anticipation of fire. If costs in Wales were equal to those in England, dwelling fires would cost Wales £29 million per year. Uprated to 2012 prices this rises to £38 million per year.

The estimated cost of dwelling fires in Wales that were caused by smokers' materials is £38 million per year.

The cost of smoking to Wales: a summary

	Preferred estimate	Lower estimate	Higher estimate
	uprated to 2012 prices		
Health care costs	£302 million	£190 million	£436.6 million
Premature deaths	£288 million	£80 million	£310.7 million
Excess sickness absence	£49.5 million	£31.2 million	£112.5 million
Smoking breaks	£41 million	£41 million	£63 million
Second hand smoking – early	£45.4 million	£45.4 million	£45.4 million
deaths			
Smoking related litter	£25.8 million	£18.7 million	£25.8 million
Fires in businesses	£960,000	£960,000	£7.6 million
Fires in the home	£38 million	£38 million	£38 million
TOTAL	£790.66 million per year	£455.26 million	£1,039.7 million

The estimated economic cost of smoking to Wales is £790.66 million per year.

The higher estimate of the economic cost of smoking to Wales is £1.04 billion per year.

The cost of smoking by Local Authority in Wales

Based on population data for Wales⁵¹ and Welsh Health Survey prevalence of smoking by Local Authority of those aged 16+ years⁵², it is possible to estimate the number of smokers by Local Authority. This allows an estimate of the cost per Local Authority to be created. The estimates assume that the burden of smoking related expenditure is equally distributed among smokers, and thus the cost of smoking per person is spread evenly among all smokers in Wales.

Rank	Local Authority	Adult smoking	Adult smoking	Cost of smoking (£
		population (%)	population	million)
1	Cardiff	24	68,000	£91.5 M
2	Rhondda Cynon Taf	27	51,000	£65.6 M
3	Swansea	22	43,000	£57.8 M
=4	Carmarthenshire	23	35,000	£47.1 M
=4	Caerphilly	24	35,000	£47.1 M
6	Neath Port Talbot	26	30,000	£40.4 M
=7	Newport	25	29,000	£39 M
=7	Wrexham	27	29,000	£39 M
9	Flintshire	21	26,000	£35 M
10	Bridgend	22	25,000	£33.6 M
=11	Powys	21	23,000	£30.9 M
=11	Gwynedd	23	23,000	£30.9 M
=13	Pembrokeshire	22	22,000	£29.6 M
=13	The Vale of Glamorgan	21	22,000	£29.6 M
15	Conwy	21	20,000	£26.9 M
16	Torfaen	26	19,000	£25.6 M
17	Denbighshire	22	17,000	£22.9 M
18	Blaenau Gwent	28	16,000	£21.5 M
19	Ceredigion	23	15,000	£20.2 M
20	Monmouthshire	18	14,000	£18.8 M
=21	Isle of Anglesey	23	13,000	£17.5 M
=21	Merthyr Tydfil	27	13,000	£17.5 M
TOTAL	Wales	23	588,000	£790.66 M

NB –The Wales estimate is not equal to the sum of estimate by Local Authorities. This is as a result of percentages being rounded across areas, resulting in additional smokers when Local Authority estimates are combined. Accordingly, the results appear slightly higher as a consequence.

The table shows that the cost of smoking is highest in Cardiff, with a cost of over £91.5 million per year. Conversely, Merthyr Tydfil, which has a higher smoking prevalence, has the lowest cost in Wales at £17.5 million per year, as a result of the smaller population within the Local Authority.

The cost of smoking by Local Health Board in Wales

Costs were estimated by combining the costs for each of the Local Authorities making up the seven Local Health Boards in Wales.

Rank	Health Board	Number of smokers	Cost of smoking (£ million)
1	Betsi Cadwaladr University	128,000	£172.2 M
2	Aneurin Bevan	113,000	£152 M
3	Abertawe Bro Morgannwg University	98,000	£131.8 M
4	Cardiff & Vale University	90,000	£121.1 M
5	Hywel Dda	72,000	£96.9 M
6	Cwm Taf	64,000	£82.89 M
7	Powys Teaching	23,000	£30.9 M

It can be seen that estimated costs in all seven health boards were substantial, with the lowest estimate for Powys Teaching Health Board costing an estimated £30.9 million per year. Moreover, for Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board, costs were particularly high at £172.2million per year.

Tax generated by smoking

The Swansea Centre for Health Economics at Swansea University undertook an estimate of the likely amount of tax generated by smokers in Wales based upon populations proportions adjusted for smoking prevalence on behalf of ASH Wales. Updated calculations based on the data used in the report show:

(As a result of the Barnett Formula), it would be expected that of the £9,878million tobacco duty received in the UK in 2012, Scotland should have received £827.89 million, and Wales should have received £478.95 million. This assumes that smoking prevalence and smoking levels are equal across the UK, however, given that the figure stated by the Scotlish Government for tobacco duty received in Scotland in 2012⁵³ is £1,129 million, it is safe to say that this assumption is not true.

The 2011 Scottish household survey⁵⁴ gives a smoking prevalence, for Scotland, of 23.3%, while the 2011 Welsh health survey gives the prevalence as 23%⁵⁵ in Wales. With the population of Scotland estimated to be 5,295,400 in 2011⁵⁶ the £1,129 million tobacco duty was generated by 1,233,828 smokers, at a cost of £915.04 per smoker. In Wales, with a population of 3,063,456, it could be seen that 704,595 smokers who, if spending the same £915.04 in tobacco duty per head as in Scotland, would generate a total tobacco duty of £644.73 million (per year).

Income from duty in 2012 is therefore estimated at £644.73 million per year.

It is clear that the economic costs of smoking are higher than that raised in tobacco duty. Seen in the context of taxation on tobacco affecting those on low incomes the most, alongside increased morbidity and premature deaths, there is a strong economic case for increasing the cessation support available to smokers in Wales.

Conclusion

This report uses information from a variety of sources including: existing evidence, projections based upon UK data and data collected by the Welsh Government. It can be seen that the economic cost of smoking to Wales is extremely high in terms of health care costs, loss of productivity to businesses, deaths from second hand smoke and environmental costs including litter and fire.

However, there are inadequacies in the data which do not allow the economic impact to be measured in relation to children. Research shows that children who are exposed to second hand smoke are more likely to develop illnesses including asthma and meningitis. In addition to health care costs, illness can result in absenteeism from school which can have a negative impact on the child's performance at school.

The long term solution to reducing the cost of smoking to Wales is to prevent young people becoming smokers. Accordingly, the Welsh Government should do more to ensure that every young person in Wales is provided with appropriately tailored evidence-based information on smoking at a young age to prevent more children becoming addicted to tobacco. Youth-specific smoking cessation services should also be available across Wales. Alongside this tobacco control measures should reduce young people's access to tobacco, including initiatives such as the ban on tobacco vending machines implemented in February 2012 and the Welsh Government's commitment to press the UK Government for a retail register of tobacco sellers. Moreover, the attractiveness of tobacco products to young people should be reduced: smoking should not be glamorised on television and film productions, and tobacco should be sold in standardised packaging and not displayed in shops.

Evidence shows that 70% of adult smokers in Wales want to stop smoking and that 38% have tried to quit in the last year⁵⁷. This commitment to attempting to quit is further attested to by almost 15,000 users of Stop Smoking Wales per year⁵⁸. To reduce the smoking rate for adults to 16% by 2020 the Welsh Government has stated that 5% of Welsh smokers should be accessing cessation services each year⁵⁹, amounting to almost 30,000 smokers each year. This will be a significant challenge but can be achieved if cessation services are accessible, equitable and broad in the services they offer.

If the Welsh Government's aim of reducing adult smoking prevalence to 16% were achieved, estimated costs would therefore result in significant savings to Wales.

References

_

¹ Doll *et al.* (2004). Mortality in relation to smoking: 50 years' observations on male British doctors. *British Medical Journal* 328:1519

² Doll, R. and R. Peto, *Epidemiology of Cancer. Oxford Textbook of Medicine*, ed. D. Warrell, et al. 2003, Oxford: OUP.

³ IARC, IARC Monographs on the Evaluation of Carcinogenic Risks to Humans: Tobacco smoke and involuntary smoking. Vol. 83. 2004, Lyon: IARCPress.

⁴ Sasco, A., M. Secretan, and K. Straif, Tobacco smoking and cancer: a brief review of the epidemiological evidence. *Lung Cancer*, 2004. 45: p. S3-S9.PubMed

⁵ Peto, R., et al., *Mortality from smoking in developed countries 1950-2000: Indirect estimates from National Vital Statistics*. 1994, Oxford: OUP.

⁶ Wales Cancer Intelligence & Surveillance Unit (2011). *Cancer Incidence in Wales 2005-2009*. Available online at: http://www.wales.nhs.uk/sites3/Documents/242/incpub2011.pdf

⁷ Doll, R., Mortality in relation to smoking: 40 years' observation on male British doctors. *BMJ*, 1994. 309: p. 901-911.PubMed

Public Health Wales Observatory (2010). Lifestyle and Health: Wales and its Health Boards. Available online at: http://www2.nphs.wales.nhs.uk:8080/PubHObservatoryProjDocs.nsf/85c50756737f79ac80256f2 700534ea3/a1e8a36c3d05ab5c802576f5005054eb/\$FILE/Lifestyle Wales Final E.pdf

⁹ Welsh Government (2011). *Welsh Health Survey 2010.* Available online at: http://wales.gov.uk/topics/statistics/theme/health/health-survey/results/?lang=en

Office for National Statistics (2012). *General Lifestyle Survey 2010.* Available online at: http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/rel/ghs/general-lifestyle-survey/2010/index.html

Welsh Government (2011). Welsh Health Survey 2010. Available online at: http://wales.gov.uk/topics/statistics/theme/health/health-survey/results/?lang=en

Public Health Wales Observatory, 2011. *Measuring Inequalities: trends in mortality and life expectancy in Wales.* Available online at: http://www2.nphs.wales.nhs.uk:8080/PubHObservatoryProjDocs.nsf/public/BA402B3D53C6A33D80 25795E00556236/\$file/InequalitiesProfiles AllWales Final English v1.pdf

¹³ Welsh Government. (2011). *Tobacco Control Action Plan.* Cardiff: Welsh Government.

¹⁴ Blecher, E.H. and van Walbeek, C.P. (2009). 'Cigarette affordability trends: an update and some methodological comments. *Tobacco Control:* 18: 167-175

¹⁵ Kaiserman, M.J. (1997). 'The cost of smoking in Canada'. Chronic Disease Canada: 18(1): 13-19.

¹⁶ Barnum, H. (1994). 'The economic burden of the global trade in tobacco.' *Tobacco Control*: 3 (4): 358-361

¹⁷ Phillips, C.J. and Prowle, M.J., (1993). 'Economics of a reduction in smoking: case study from Heartbeat Wales.' *Journal of Epidimiology and Community Health*:47: 215-223.

¹⁸ Nash R. Featherstone H. *Cough up: Balancing tobacco income and costs in society* [online]. Policy Exchange. March 2010. Available from: http://www.policyexchange.org. uk/publications/publication.cgi?id=182

¹⁹¹⁹ ASH Scotland (2010). *Up in Smoke*. Edinburgh: ASH Scotland.

²⁰ McGuire, A. Et al. (2008). *An economic analysis of the cost of employee smoking borne by employers.* London: Enterprise LSE Ltd.

²¹ Cohen, D. And Lisles, C. (2005). *Modelling the impact of a ban on smoking in public places in Wales.* Health Economics Unit: University of Glamorgan.

²² (http://www.statswales.wales.gov.uk/TableViewer/tableView.aspx?ReportId=16889)

Based on world bank data (http://data.worldbank.org/data-catalog/world-development-indicators?cid=GPD_WDI), Google estimate the UK population in 2010 to be 62.219 million. http://www.google.co.uk/publicdata/explore?ds=d5bncppjof8f9_&met_y=sp_pop_totl&idim=count-ry:GBR&dl=en&population+of+uk

at:http://www2.nphs.wales.nhs.uk:8080/PubHObservatoryProjDocs.nsf/85c50756737f79ac80256f2 700534ea3/a1e8a36c3d05ab5c802576f5005054eb/\$FILE/Lifestyle Wales Final E.pdf

- ³⁰ Stats Wales (2012). *Deaths by cause and year of registration*. Available online at: https://statswales.wales.gov.uk/Catalogue/Health-and-Social-Care/Births-Deaths-and-Conceptions/Deaths/Deaths-by-Cause
- ³¹ Wales Public Health Observatory (2012): *Tobacco and Health in Wales*. Available at: http://www2.nphs.wales.nhs.uk:8080/PubHObservatoryProjDocs.nsf/61c1e930f9121fd080256f2a00 4937ed/509486bfd300fdef80257a29003c3c67/\$FILE/Eng%20Smoking%20Report%20LowRes.pdf
- ³² Whitehead, S. Et al. (2009). *A profile of smoking and health in Wales*. Cardiff: ASH Wales and Cardiff Institute of Society and Health.
- ³³ Office for National Statistics (2011). *Annual Survey of Hours and Earnings*. Available online at: http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/rel/ashe/annual-survey-of-hours-and-earnings/ashe-results-2011/ashe-statistical-bulletin-2011.html
- Taulbut et al. (2008) *Tobacco smoking in Scotland: an epidemiology briefing* [online]. Edinburgh: NHS Health Scotland and Scottish Public Health Observatory. Available online at: http://www.scotpho.org.uk/nmsruntime/saveasdialog.asp?llD=4210&sID=3590
- ³⁵ West Midlands Public Health Observatory (2004) *About Smoking Costs.* Available online at: http://www.smokingcosts.org/
- ³⁶ Parrott, S. Et al. (2000). 'Costs of employee smoking in the workplace in Scotland'. *Tobacco Control: 9: 187-192*.
- ³⁷ NICE (2010). Workplace interventions to promote smoking cessation: costing template. Available online at: http://guidance.nice.org.uk/PH5/BusinessCase/Full/xls/English
- ³⁸ Halpern, MT. Et al., (2001). 'Impact of smoking status on workplace absenteeism and productivity'. *Tobacco Control:* 10(3):233-238.
- ³⁹ Royal College of Physicians (2005). *Going smoke-free: The medical case for clean air in the home, at work, and in public places.* London: RCP.
- ⁴⁰ BMA Board of Science and Education (2004). *Smoking and reproductive life: The impact of smoking on sexual, reproductive and child health.* London: BMA.
- ⁴¹ Office for National Statistics (2011). *Infant and perinatal mortality in England and Wales by social and biological factors in 2010.* Available online at: http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/rel/child-health/infant-and-perinatal-mortality-in-england-and-wales-by-social-and-biological-factors/2010/stb-infant-and-perinatal-mortality--2010.html
- ⁴² Statistics for Wales (2011). *Births in Wales: Data from the National Community Child Database*. Available online at: http://wales.gov.uk/docs/statistics/2011/110713sdr1162011en.pdf
- ⁴³ Royal College of Physicians (2010). *Passive Smoking and Children*. Available online at: http://bookshop.rcplondon.ac.uk/contents/pub305-e37e88a5-4643-4402-9298-6936de103266.pdf
- ⁴⁴ Keep Britain Tidy (2008). *Smoking related litter: a guide for businesses.* Available online at: http://www.nerwai.org.uk/uploaded/file/Smoking%2520Related%2520Litter 615.pdf

19

²⁴ Callum, C. Cost of smoking to the NHS in England. London: ASH.

²⁵ Phillips, C.J. and Bloodworth, A. (2009). *The cost of smoking to the NHS in Wales*. Cardiff: ASH Wales and British Heart Foundation.

²⁶ Allender, S. Et al. (2009). 'The burden of smoking related ill health in the UK'. *Tobacco Control:* 18(4): 262-267.

²⁷ Callum, C. (2009). 'Replies to the Burden of smoking-related ill health in the UK.' Available online at: http://tobaccocontrol.bmj.com/content/18/4/262/reply#tobaccocontrol_el_2956

²⁸ Personal correspondence with Professor Phillips, 2012

Public Health Wales Observatory (2010). Lifestyle and health: Wales and its Health Boards.
Available

⁴⁵ LEAMS (2010). *How clean are our streets? 2009-10* Cardiff: Keep Wales Tidy.

⁴⁶ APSE (2011). Street cleaning performance information on cost and service quality. Briefing 11-09 available at: http://www.apse.org.uk/briefings/11/11-09%20Street%20cleansing%20performance%20on%20cost%20and%20quality%20issues.pdf Household estimates for Wales by local authority. http://www.statswales.wales.gov.uk/TableViewer/tableView.aspx?ReportId=28727 ⁴⁸ Information provided by Welsh Government statisticians at ASH Wales' request, based upon data the Incident Recording http://www.communities.gov.uk/fire/researchandstatistics/firestatistics/newincidentrecording/ ⁴⁹ Information provided by Welsh Government statisticians at ASH Wales' request, based upon data Incident Recording http://www.communities.gov.uk/fire/researchandstatistics/firestatistics/newincidentrecording/ ⁵⁰ Information provided by Welsh Government statisticians at ASH Wales' request, based upon data Incident Recording System: from http://www.communities.gov.uk/fire/researchandstatistics/firestatistics/newincidentrecording/ ⁵¹ Welsh Assembly Government: Statistical Directorate (2012). *Mid Year Population Estimates (2001* figures available by Local Authority; for 2011 onwards), https://statswales.wales.gov.uk/Catalogue/Population-and-Migration/Population/Estimates/Local-Authority/PopulationEstimates-by-LocalAuthority-Age ⁵² Welsh Government (2011). Welsh Health Survey: Local Authority and Local Health Board Results 2009 and 2010. Available http://wales.gov.uk/topics/statistics/headlines/health2011/1109131/?lang=en The Scottish Government (2012) Government Expenditure and Revenue Scotland 2011-2012 available at http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Resource/0041/00415875.pdf (accessed 26th April 2013) The Scottish Government (2011) Scotland's People Annual report: results from 2007/2008 Scottish Household Survey available at http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Resource/0040/00403747.pdf (accessed 26th April 2013) Government Welsh Assembly (2011)Welsh Health Survey available

Welsh Health Survey 2010.

Available online at:

Welsh Government (2011).

Welsh Assembly Government (2011) Welsh Health Survey available at http://wales.gov.uk/docs/statistics/2012/120919healthsurvey2011en.pdf (accessed 26th April 2013) ⁵⁶ ONS Census population estimates 2011 available at http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/rel/census/2011-census/key-statistics-for-local-authorities-in-england-and-wales/sty-non-uk-born-population.html

<u>census/key-statistics-for-local-authorities-in-england-and-wales/sty-non-uk-born-population.html</u> (accessed 26th April 2013)

http://wales.gov.uk/topics/statistics/theme/health/health-survey/results/?lang=en Stop Smoking Wales (2010). *Annual Report 2009/10.* Cardiff: Public Health Wales.

⁵⁹ Welsh Government (2011). *Tobacco Control Delivery Plan*. Cardiff: Welsh Government.